ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT.

RECEIVED

MAY 18 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

CLARK D. THOMAS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002286

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner abandoned the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not asking the judge to instruct the jury with the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence when there was evidence in the record from which the jury could find Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense rather than the offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature?
2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for making extremely disparaging comments about Petitioner in his opening statement and closing argument, describing Petitioner as immoral and sexually deviant?
3. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for not reviewing medical records which contradicted Petitioner's wife's testimony that Petitioner hit her in the face and chipped her teeth?
4. Did the PCR judge err in failing to make findings of fact that the kidnapping offense did not include a sexual element?

STATEMENT

On December 11, 2006, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Thomas for kidnapping and CDVHAN, indictments #06-GS-10-12295, 12296. On February 13, 2007, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for criminal sexual conduct first degree. On July 7, 2008, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Michael T. Bolus represented Petitioner at trial. Nathan Williams prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty of criminal sexual conduct first degree. The jury convicted Petitioner of kidnapping and CDVHAN. Judge Jefferson sentenced Thomas to 10 years for CDVHAN and 20 years concurrent for kidnapping. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on July 11, 2008, and the direct appeal perfected. On August 8, 2012, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Clark David Thomas, 2012-UP-486 (S.C.Ct.App. August 8, 2012).

On December 21, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post conviction relief. (App. p. 835). The State filed a return on October 1, 2013. (App. p. 841). Petitioner filed an amended application for post conviction relief and memorandum in support on August 29, 2014. (App. p. 847). On December 8, 2014, an evidentiary PCR hearing was held before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson. Tristan M. Shaffer represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Ashleigh R. Wilson represented the State. On May 18, 2015, Petitioner filed a motion to relieve Tristan M. Shaffer as counsel. (App. p. 1091). In a written order filed June 2, 2015, Judge Nicholson denied post conviction relief and dismissed the application. (App. p. 1117).

On June 12, 2015, attorney Tristan M. Shaffer filed a motion to reconsider and motion to alter or amend order of dismissal. (App. p. 1143). On June 15, 2015, Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion to alter or amend a judgment to include specific findings of fact and conclusions of law. (App. p. 1147). On July 12, 2015, attorney Orin G. Briggs filed a memorandum of law on Rule

59(e) motion. On July 14, 2015, a hearing was held before Judge Nicholson. Orin Briggs represented Petitioner at this hearing. Rutledge Johnson represented the State. Attorney Tristan M. Shaffer was also present. During the hearing Judge Nicholson relieved Attorney Shaffer. (App. pp. 1192-1193; written order filed November 24, 2015, App. p. 1228) and Attorney Briggs argued the Rule 59(e) motion. (App. pp. 1195-1211). On August 11, 2015, the State filed a return to the Rule 59(e) motion. (App. p. 1213). On August 31, 2015, Attorney Briggs filed a reply to the State's return. (App. p. 1220). In an order filed October 9, 2015, Judge Nicholson denied the Rule 59(e) motion. (App. p. 1230). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 5, 2015. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENTS

1. The PCR judge erred in finding that the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not asking the judge to instruct the jury with the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence when there was evidence in the record from which the jury could find Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense rather than the offense of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature was abandoned.

The jury found Petitioner guilty of criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and kidnapping, both charges involving his wife. Petitioner testified at trial that the night before his arrest he and his wife took drugs and participated in consensual sex involving bondage, duct tape, shackles, handcuffs and electrical shock from a stun gun. (App. pp. 612-615). During the course of the evening Petitioner began to suspect that his wife had again been unfaithful. (App. p. 616, lines 21-25; p. 620, lines 16-22). Petitioner testified that the next morning, as he was driving with his wife in the van, he told her that he believed the relationship was over. (App. p. 621, lines 1-22). Petitioner testified that his wife started “flipping out” and jumped out of the van and took off “running, screaming and freaking out.” (App. p. 621, line 23 – p. 622, lines 1-13).

Officer Chris Talbot with the North Charleston Police Department testified at trial that he received a call from dispatch reporting that a concerned citizen saw a female jump out of a van and a white male ran after her. (App. p. 299, lines 3-15). The officer responded to the reported location and found a van partially blocking a lane of traffic. (App. p. 300, line 2 – p. 301, lines 1-19). The officer parked his patrol car behind the van and walked under the bridge to try and locate the occupants. (App. p. 302, lines 3-12). The officer testified, “...[A]s I start walking I observed the defendant and the victim walking, coming back toward me, and the defendant was carrying the victim and she was kicking. I believe she was screaming something. And she, she appeared very frustrated.” (App. p. 302, line 25 – p. 303, lines 1-7).

During the charge conference the judge asked, "Now, will there be any requests for any lesser included charges such as C.D.V.?" (App. p. 673, lines 14-17). Trial counsel responded, "No." (App. p. 673, line 18). The judge again asked, "None for the record?" (App. p. 673, lines 19-20). Trial counsel again responded, "No." (App. p. 673, line 21).

In the initial application for post conviction relief Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective because, "Defense counsel improperly requested that the Court not charge the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence for the jury to consider." (App. p. 836). Petitioner also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in not requesting the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence in the amended application for post conviction relief. (App. p. 849).

During the PCR hearing PCR counsel asked Petitioner, "You had raised the issue about objecting because he had not raised the lesser included charge of CDV. What facts make you think that you would be entitled to just a CDV charge?" (App. p. 1041, lines 14-17). When Petitioner did not respond, PCR counsel asked, "Was it the fact that there was a – that you had testified that the tasing was consensual and the officer testified he saw you grab her was that your basis for requesting a CDV charge?" (App. p. 1041, lines 19-22). Petitioner agreed that everything that took place the night before was consensual. (App. p. 1041, line 23 – p. 1042, lines 1-9).

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing:

But I imagine when you're doing that much drugs it's probably a lot of slapping and shouting and struggling but that wasn't really the big issue. The CDV was such a small charge compared to a high and aggravated – such a small charge compared – I was looking at a 30 year CSC charge and a 20 or 30 year kidnapping. And that's small potatoes; I wasn't worried about a CDV.

But I would have loved that if that had been the – that's my goal to get him out of the kidnapping and the CSC and get him convicted if it's going to be anything—not get him convicted but if the jury doesn't like what they hear get him on the high and aggravated CDV. I think it's a year minimum up to 10 years and that's not too bad.

(App. p. 1072, lines 4-18).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge listed the all of the allegations made in both the initial and amended applications, including the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser include offense of criminal domestic violence. (App. p. 1119; p. 1120). The PCR judge, however, found that Petitioner abandoned the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser include offense of criminal domestic violence. The PCR judge wrote, "This Court finds the Applicant failed to present evidence, argument, or testimony on several of the Applicant's numerous claims raised in his original and amended applications. Therefore, this Court finds any allegations not addressed in this order are deemed abandoned by the Applicant. This Court finds at the evidentiary hearing, the applicant pursued relief solely on the following claims: . . ." (App. p. 1120). The PCR judge then listed allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel a. thru j. and Brady violations a. and b. (App. p. 1121). The allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence was not included in the PCR judge's list of claims pursued. The PCR judge erred.

In Petitioner's *pro se* motion to alter or amend he notes that the PCR judge failed to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in regard to the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence. (App. p. 1154). The allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence is also addressed in the memorandum of law on Rule 59(e) motion filed by Attorney Briggs. (App. pp. 1180-1181). The PCR judge denied the motion to alter or amend in a form order without addressing the issues raised. The PCR judge erred.

The allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence was not abandoned. Petitioner raised the allegation in both

the initial and amended applications for post conviction relief. The issue was raised at the evidentiary hearing during Petitioner's testimony and the testimony of trial counsel. When the PCR judge erroneously found the issue abandoned in the order of dismissal, Petitioner properly filed a motion to alter or amend.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 provides, "The court shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented." In Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The cases this Court remanded for specific findings were unique cases in which the Court attempted to remind circuit court judges and parties that: (1) specific findings of fact and conclusions of law were required; and (2) a Rule 59(e) motion must be filed if issues are not adequately addressed in order to preserve the issues for appellate review. Although the cases apparently have not accomplished the Court's goal, they do not change the general rule that issues which are not properly preserved will not be addressed on appeal. In fact, in Pruitt, this Court stated in a footnote, "In vacating and remanding in this case, we are not abandoning the general rule that issues must be raised to, and ruled on by, the post-conviction judge to be preserved for appellate review. The extraordinary action we take today is necessary only because our opinion in McCray [v. State, 305 S.C. 329, 408 S.E.2d 241 (1991)] is not being followed." Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. at 255, 423 S.E.2d at 128.

In Marlar this Court found that the issues were not preserved for appellate review because Marlar failed to file a Rule 59(e) motion. In the present case the judge was required to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in regard to the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence. The issue was properly raised in the PCR applications and during the evidentiary hearing. Unlike in Marlar, Petitioner in the present case filed a Rule 59(e) motion. This Court should reverse the finding by the PCR judge that the issue was abandoned and remand to allow the PCR judge to make findings of fact and conclusion of law in regard to trial counsel's failure to request the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence.

2. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for making extremely disparaging comments about Petitioner in his opening statement and closing argument, describing Petitioner as immoral and sexually deviant.

During opening statement and closing argument trial counsel portrayed Petitioner as an immoral hard core drug addict and a sexual deviant. Trial counsel told the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, this case is about degradation of these people, degradation that began about when they married, when they became drug addicts. It's about people, how low that people can get when they're under the influence of, shooting heroin, shooting crack cocaine, taking Xanaxes, taking hydrocodone which is Lortabs, shooting and taking methadone. You put that stuff together, let me tell you, you're going to hear about nasty sex. I don't [sic] who's sexually adventuresome in this courtroom and who isn't, but there are some people that are deviants and they do it together, and you may not like me telling you this, but that's what you're going to hear for the next couple of days. It's a whole lot of one thing. Two people completely obliterated on drugs, they do strange things and I think you all read newspapers and heard incidences about how can people be doing that? Well, it happens.

(App. p. 125, line 6 – p. 126, lines 1-14). Later in opening statement trial counsel told the jury:

So I'm asking you, ladies and gentlemen, it's going to get nasty in here. I don't make up the facts. I'm sure Mr. Williams, [the prosecuting attorney] he will do his best to show that the facts show that my client's guilty, but when you go back into the jury room the only thing you have in your stomach is a sense of revulsion and like you don't want to hear no more of this well, you know something? That doesn't equate to guilt. That doesn't mean my client's guilty of anything. That just means we're dealing with two people that lost their morality, lost their humanity, and degraded themselves. It all stems from drugs, and you will hear a lot about that. Both these people are drug addicts. Both have cleaned up several times, and she's been cleaned up.

(App. p. 131, line 13 – p. 132, lines 1-13). Trial counsel also told the jury:

So keep an open mind. People do strange things to each other sexually these days and times. And it doesn't mean that this courtroom is the place where ultimate justice is going to be served. It may be another place, but people do a lot of strange things to people in this country and around the world. I don't like some of those things and I sit around reading my newspapers saying how can people, you know. They're going to be judged and all that, but I can't send them to jail unless they

committed a crime. And that's what you have to do today and I appreciate your attention.

(App. p. 133, line 5 – p. 134, lines 1-2).

In closing argument trial counsel told the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, thank you for your interest and attention. I know it's not, it's not the best two days that you'll ever spend in your life. This kind of stuff is on T.V. every night if you care to watch it on some channel. Our country has reached the state of Sodom and Gomorrah, drugs, perverted sex, all kinds of stuff. Unfortunately – well fortunately or unfortunately some of the stuff used to be against the law, you couldn't do certain things to people. Now we've reached our enlightened age, I guess, right before the end of times that if people, consenting adults, would want to do something, it doesn't matter how sick or revolted it may make you feel, if it's consensual it's not a crime. You may think it should be a crime, and lot of people, you know, will beat on the Bible about it and all that, but you have to decide first of all was there a consent here.

(App. p. 695, line 5 – p. 696, lines 1-11). Later trial counsel told the jury, "But, you know, then you got to say well, do we convict David Thomas based just on morality? We don't like his morals? We don't like their sexual activities? You can't do that. You'd be violating your oath again." (App. p. 705, lines 13-20). Trial counsel went on to tell the jury:

I know this is an ugly case. It, it just smells. It's just, the whole thing, and I know how people, you get together as civilized human beings in a courtroom and have to listen to this kind of stuff, but that's what we have to do. That's where our society has gone, and you have to decide, as low as this case is, how bad it stinks, and the way these people act and the way they take the drugs and the way they have their sex, whatever, does that mean someone goes to jail for a long time? Well, if it's a crime, that's what you've got to do. You've got find somebody who – you've got to convict him, send him to jail, if that's what you find.

(App. p. 706, line 25 – p. 707, lines 1-22). Trial counsel then discussed the fact that some enjoy choking during sexual acts and then he told the jury:

[T]he only point is when we lose our sensitivities as human beings, our normal sex, when we start going down this, this, this road that goes nowhere, we end up, that's all there is to it, at the end of the highway, and it's not a good place to be. I'm glad that Rachel Crowley has come back to reality, to the world. I hope she stays that way. Drug addiction is a heck of a thing. I'm not sure David Clark Thomas is ever

going to beat the situation, you know. He's in his forties. And I don't know. It may be too late for him. I hope it's not too late for Rachel.

(App. p. 714, lines 1-21). This was the very last thing trial counsel told the jury before the State gave closing argument.

In the initial application for post conviction relief Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective because, "Defense counsel made negative statements regarding the defendant during trial which were excessive and extreme and could not be reasonably considered to be within his trial strategy. In doing so, defense counsel was ineffective in his closing argument." (App. p. 836). Petitioner also raised the allegation in the amended application. (App. p. 849).

During the evidentiary hearing Petitioner testified that trial counsel portrayed him as a monster. (App. p. 1039, lines 11-19). Petitioner testified he was never consulted about trial counsel making negative statements as part of a trial strategy and Petitioner never consented to trial counsel making such statements. (App. p. 1040, lines 18-23). During the evidentiary hearing trial counsel testified:

I had to portray it a certain way that this is the way they were because of their drug addiction. And when I call it immoral behavior and what was going on I still think its immoral behavior but I'm not the judge of that. But the jury had to hear something about why these people would even get to the point where the people being tied up, people being tased and this and that they had to believe something that hey, if he's says it was consensual maybe it was. But that's the only way to get them to come around and that was my theory.

And these comments in this yes, if you take them out of context it makes me look like I'm trying to convict my client. I'm not trying to convict him. I'm trying to get the jury to sympathize with both sides; these two people needed help. And he knew that was going to be the strategy. He knew, in spite of what he said today he knew that was going to be the strategy.

(App. p. 1063, line 23 – p. 1064, lines 1-14). In summation PCR counsel argued that trial counsel's purported trial strategy of portraying Petitioner and his wife as horrible people was not a valid trial strategy. (App. p. 1082, line 20 – p. 1083, line 1).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

This Court finds valid trial counsel's testimony that he chose to portray the victim and Applicant in a somewhat negative light and as drug addicts in his statements as a way to explain to the jury the victim and applicant's unusual sexual activities. This Court finds since counsel articulated a valid strategic basis for his statements about the applicant at trial, this Court will not second guess counsel's trial tactic. This Court finds counsel's performance was not deficient in this regard. This Court finds the Applicant has failed to carry his burden of proving trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by making certain statements about the Applicant during opening and closing arguments.

(App. p. 1138). The PCR judge erred. The PCR judge's finding that trial counsel portrayed Petitioner in a "somewhat negative light" is a vast understatement. Trial counsel repeatedly portrayed Petitioner in an extremely negative light. Arguing that the sexual activities between Petitioner and his wife involving bondage, duct tape, shackles, handcuffs and electrical shock from a stun gun were all consensual activities is a valid trial strategy. Attributing their sexual activities to drug addiction may have been a valid trial strategy. Describing Petitioner as immoral and a sexual deviant, however, is not a valid trial strategy.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "Under this prong, '[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.'" Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by

counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

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