STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-002286

CLARK THOMAS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 29 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR judge correctly held that Petitioner's trial counsel was not ineffective for not requesting a jury instruction of the lesser included offense of criminal domestic violence, as the evidence and testimony presented by the victim, arresting officer, and physician's records corroborates the crimes alleged.

Petitioner asserts that the PCR judge erred by finding that Petitioner abandoned the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not inquiring to the judge to issue jury instructions of the lesser included offense of CDVHAN, which would be the general charge of Criminal Domestic Violence. This argument is without merit.

During Petitioner's trial, the victim testified extensively as to her reasons for leaving him, which were largely attributed to domestic violence. She stated that she wanted to leave Petitioner because she could not tolerate being constantly on edge, terrified that he may hit her again or explode into a fit of fury. (App. p. 144, line 18 – p.145, line 1). She also testified that the night of the incident, Petitioner became enraged that she was leaving him and proceeded to tie her up and continuously shock her with a stun gun, to the point where she felt like she was being punched repeatedly and her body felt like it was on fire. (App. p. 149, line 15 – p. 151, line 4). The victim also testified that she lost count of how many times Petitioner shocked her with the taser, stating that it could be upwards of thirty (30) times, which eventually made her feel as though she was going to "black out". (App. p. 152, line 18 – p. 153, line 2). Petitioner stunned her all over her body, including on her neck, the insides of her thighs, the ribs, chest, and even on the bottoms of her feet. (App. p. 153, lines 3 – 9). Petitioner shocked her so many times that the gun left little red burn marks all over her body. (App. p. 153, lines 10 -15). The victim further testified that her injuries extended to her face, where Petitioner hit her, chipping a couple of her teeth. (App. p. 158, lines 20 – 25). In addition to using the stun gun, Petitioner also repeatedly hit her on her ribs

and in between her legs. (App. p. 159, line 20 – p. 159, line 1). The victim testified that throughout the entire period of the abuse that night, she was handcuffed, shackled, and had duct tape on her mouth. (App. 159, lines 23 – p. 161, line 3).

In addition to the physical abuse, Petitioner was talking to the victim, shouting that she was worthless and that he wanted her dead. (App. 159, lines 7 – 16). The victim also testified that later in the night, Petitioner began to tell her that she was going to have sex with him, despite her objections. (App. p. 173, line 17 – p. 174, line 4). Petitioner began to force himself upon her, sexually assaulting her while simultaneously beating her. (App. 174, line 14 – p. 176, line 21). The victim emphasized that Petitioner sexually assaulted her more than once. *Id.* Petitioner shocked the victim so many times that the victim testified to witnessing him change the batteries three times on the stun gun. (App. p. 177, lines 21-23). The victim testified that perhaps the most terrifying point was when Petitioner repeatedly reiterated that she would not live through it and that she would never see her family again. (App. p.176, line 23 – p.177, line 3). She further explained that he attempted to force her to swallow several pills, saying that if she took enough of them, she would overdose and he would not have to kill her himself. (App. 179, lines 5-10).

The victim's testimony, even in part, presents overwhelming evidence that Petitioner committed no less than criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. The evidence presented is gruesome and shocking. Petitioner clearly went above and beyond to not only assault the victim, but to even threaten to kill her. Petitioner's actions carried life-threatening implications, which is supported by the repeated death threats he conveyed to her while relentlessly beating and sexually assaulting her. Furthermore, the victim's testimony is supported by the account of the arresting officer, who testified that she relayed to him the same

version of events. (App. p. 350, line 25 – p. 351, line 12). The victim's medical records also indicated clear signs of trauma as well. (App. p. 1241 – 1251). Therefore, it is more than appropriate that Petitioner was charged with criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. Thus, the PCR court correctly ruled that Petitioner's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction of the lesser-included offense of criminal domestic violence.

- II. The PCR judge correctly found that trial counsel was not ineffective for his description and characterization of Petitioner in his opening and closing arguments, as it is clear that he had a clear that he had formulated a sound trial strategy, with the consent of Petitioner, of an attempt to render sympathy from the jury regarding the struggles of both parties.

Petitioner alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for making "disparaging" comments in his opening and closing statements. Petitioner believes that trial counsel's comments describing both Petitioner and the victim as "immoral" and "sexually deviant" was not a valid strategy, prejudicial, and therefore adversely affected the outcome of the case. This argument is without merit.

Petitioner's trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing in detail as to his justification for painting Petitioner as an immoral, sexual deviant, and a drug addict. He testified to the fact that Petitioner and the victim admitted to having a history of drug abuse and addiction, which in his professional opinion, was a logical reason as to why they engaged in the type of behavior that was the subject of the proceedings. (App. p. 1063, line 23 – p. 1064, line 7). Trial counsel testified further that those comments were taken out of context in a way that made it seem like he was attempting to secure a conviction for his client. (App. 1064, lines 8-10). However, his intention and strategy was to do the opposite: he was attempting to garner sympathy from the jury that these were two troubled individuals who needed help. (App. 1064, lines 10-12). Furthermore, trial counsel testified that Petitioner knew and consented to this strategy, given that

he conceded that he engaged in drug and odd sexual behavior with the victim. (App. 1064, lines 12-14). At trial, he explained that the fact that Petitioner engaged in this behavior with the victim regularly would help convince the jury that the incident underlying the criminal charges was consensual, and if it was consensual, it was not a crime. (App. p. 133, line 5 – p. 134, lines 1-2). Trial counsel testified that the underlying facts of the case were so bad that there was no other alternative than to tell the facts as they were and attempt to arouse an emotional response for individuals who badly needed help for the consensual abusive activities that they engaged in with one another.

Our courts are understandably wary of second-guessing defense counsel's trial tactics. Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choice of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992). *See also* Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005) and McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003). Here, Petitioner's trial counsel articulated valid strategic reasons for the way he characterized and described Petitioner in his opening and closing arguments. Petitioner has not presented any evidence that counsel was deficient in that choice of tactics.

Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid

strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992).

It is clear from the record that trial counsel offered valid reasons for his choice of trial strategy. It is obvious that the underlying facts of drug use and extreme, odd sexual behavior (admitted by Petitioner) were those that any reasonable attorney would be forced to concede in order to employ sound, valid defenses during the proceeding. Most importantly, trial counsel's choice of tactics was not so prejudicial as to believe that the outcome of the trial would have been different in their absence.

- III. The PCR judge correctly found that trial counsel was not ineffective for deciding to review the victim's medical records regarding Petitioner's injuries to her face, including chipped teeth.

Petitioner alleges that trial counsel was ineffective not reviewing the victim's medical records, which he claims contradict his wife's testimony that she was hit in the face and suffered a couple of chipped teeth. He alleges that trial counsel failed to impeach the victim and her medical records, which, in his belief, would have potentially had a significant impact on the outcome of the case. This argument is without merit.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel admitted that he did not review the medical records prior to trial. (App. p. 1075, lines 10-13). However, he emphasized that he believed that when analyzing the big picture, the evidence, or lack thereof, would not make a material difference on the outcome of the case. (App. p. 1076, lines 3-7). He explained that compared to thirty (30) taser burn marks on a person's body, coupled with her testimony, as well as that of the doctor and officers', a chipped tooth is almost immaterial. *Id.* In other words, absent the dispute over

whether the victim suffered a chipped tooth, there existed overwhelming evidence of CDVHAN incriminating the defendant.

As indicated before, our courts are understandably wary of second-guessing defense counsel's trial tactics. Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choice of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992). *See also* Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005) and McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003). Here, Petitioner's trial counsel articulated a valid explanation for why he did not review the victim's medical records prior to trial and how it would most likely have not made a difference in the outcome of the trial, had it been raised as an issue.

Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). In the case at hand, Petitioner failed to present any evidence that would impeach the victim and her medical records. Therefore, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof required to show ineffective assistance of counsel in this regard.

IV. The PCR judge correctly held that the kidnapping offense that Petitioner was convicted of did, in fact, contain a sexual element, despite him being acquitted of a sexual battery charge.

Petitioner alleges that his kidnapping conviction should not have subjected him to being required to register as a sex offender, as he was acquitted of a sexual battery charge. He believes that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make a request to the judge to make a finding that he should not be subject to general sex offender conditions upon release. (App. p. 837). This argument is without merit.

As the PCR court noted, a *conviction* of a sexual offense is not a prerequisite for a person convicted of kidnapping to register as a sex offender. (App. 1137). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §23-3-430(15), any person convicted of kidnapping must register as a sex offender if the court finds that individual committed *or* attempted a sexual offense. Petitioner interpreted the statute too narrowly, as only applying to *convictions* of a sexual offense; however, this was not a completely accurate interpretation of the law. According to the victim's testimony, Petitioner sexually assaulted her while violently physically abusing her. Thus, even though Petitioner was not convicted of the sexual offense charge because of a discrepancy over consent, there is strong evidence of an *attempted* sexual battery that is sufficient to warrant the Court to require him to register as a sex offender. Because Petitioner failed to meet his burden to show that his kidnapping conviction did *not* include a sexual offense, he therefore failed to show ineffective assistance of counsel in this regard. As a result, the PCR judge correctly held that Petitioner was properly sentenced, including the sex offender registry requirement.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.